SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0657 POLK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT NO. CVCV057831

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Adam Klein,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Iowa Public Information Board,

Respondent-Appellee,

and

Burlington Police Department and Iowa Department of Public Safety, Division of Criminal Investigations,

Intervenors-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE SAMANTHA GRONEWALD

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nicholas D. Ott Ott Law DSM 309 E 5th St Unit 201 Des Moines, IA 50309 Phone: (765) 337-1987 OttLawDSM@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Klein exhausted all adequate administrative remedies.

Authorities

Iowa Code § 22.10

Iowa Code § 23.5

Iowa Code § 23.10

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Code § 23.2

Iowa Code § 23.8

Iowa Code § 23.1

Travelers Indem. Co. v. D.J. Frazen, Inc., 792 N.W.2d 242 (Iowa 2010)

Al-Jurf v. Iowa Bd. of Medicine, 838 N.W.2d 680, 2013 WL 3830159 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (unreported)

Iowa Admin. r. 497-4.18

Salsbury Labs. v. Iowa Dep't of Envtl. Quality, 276 N.W.2d 830 (Iowa 1979)

Arthur Earl Bonfield, *The Definition of Formal Agency Adjudication Under the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act*, 63 Iowa L. Rev. 285 (1977)

Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Com'n, 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa Code § 17A.2

Fisher v. Iowa Bd. of Optometry Exam'rs, 476 N.W.2d 48 (Iowa1991)

Application of Bank of Rhame, 231 N.W.2d 801 (N.D.1975)

Banilla Games, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Inspections & Appeals, 919 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2018)

Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, L.L.C., 878 N.W.2d 759 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Code § 23.9

2. Whether Klein has standing to challenge the denial of all public records included in his underlying Complaint.

Authorities

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Polk Cty. v. Iowa State Appeal Bd., 330 N.W.2d 267 (Iowa 1983)

Godfrey v. State, 752 N.W.2d 413 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa Code § 22.2

Iowa Code § 23.10

Mitchell v. City of Cedar Rapids, 926 N.W.2d 222 (Iowa 2019)

3. Whether Klein properly sought declaratory relief in his Petition for Judicial Review.

Authorities

Black v. Univ. of Iowa, 362 N.W.2d 459, 462 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Good et al. v. Iowa Dep't of Hum. Servs., 924 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2019)

Gartner v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health, 830 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 2013)

IES Utilities v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue & Fin., 545 N.W.2d 536 (Iowa 1996)

Iowa Admin. r. 497-3

Iowa Admin. r. 497-4

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case because it presents an issue of first impression that is of broad public importance and whose ultimate determination by the Iowa Supreme Court is required. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d). Specifically, it will determine the applicable procedures and remedies governing dismissals of public records complaints made to the Iowa Public Information Board ("IPIB").

The public's right to access and disseminate chapter 22 open records, and the procedures by which they must aggrieve the denials of such requests, are critical legal rights to "open the doors of government to public scrutiny" and prevent "secreting its decision-making activities from the public." *Mitchell v. City of Cedar Rapids*, 926 N.W.2d 222, 229 (Iowa 2019).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner-Appellant, Adam Klein, appeals the district court's dismissal of his section 17A petition for judicial review of administrative agency action. The appeal presents three issues: (1) whether an open-records complainant before the IPIB must file a motion to intervene in the agency's contested case subsequent to filing his complaint in order to exhaust administrative remedies; (2) whether the district court may render relief as to all the open records sought by the complainant on judicial review of final agency action; and (3) whether a complainant must file a motion for declaratory relief before the IPIB as a prerequisite to seeking declaratory relief on a subsequent judicial review of final agency action.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. The shooting of Autumn Steele and investigation

The IPIB accepted the following facts in its Final Decision. (App. 2132, Certified Admin. Record ("CR") 1572.) On January 6, 2015, Autumn Steele was shot and killed by Jesse Hill, a Burlington Police Department ("BPD") Officer. (App. 2040, CR 1480.) The Des Moines County Attorney investigated the incident and determined that she would file no criminal charges against the officer. (*Id.*) The County Attorney summarized her findings, including a description of some of the details surrounding the shooting, in a February 27, 2015, letter (the "summary letter") to Iowa Department of Public Safety, Division of Criminal Investigation ("DCI") Agent Matthew George. (App. 2040, CR 1480; App. 2152, CR 1592.)¹

A DCI special agent testified before the IPIB that in the investigation into the shooting that followed, bodycam footage and patrol car video from the shooting were collected, and he personally attested to viewing a video of the shooting. (App. 2044, CR 1484; App. 2046-2047, CR 1486-87.) The BPD Police Chief testified that "all" records were turned over to the DCI, and he acknowledged bodycam footage, dashcam video, 911 calls, and initial reports from officers were in the DCI's custody. (App. 2047-48, CR 1487-88.)

II. Klein's open records requests and law enforcement refusals to disclose public records

On February 27, 2015, Klein made a chapter 22 public records request to the DCI. (App. 0590-91, CR 30-31.) He requested, as a catch-all "any and all public records regarding the incident." (*Id.*) He also specifically requested the following records:

¹ Klein has never conceded the accuracy of the County Attorney's report or conclusions of facts or law. (*See* App. 0576, CR 16; App. 0683-84, CR 123-24; App. 0699, CR 139; App. 0742-43, CR 182-83; App. 0238, Petr's Br. on Judicial Review at 12.)

- 1. the investigative report of the Iowa Department of Criminal Investigation into the Incident, in its entirety, including any and all supporting evidence;
- 2. original or supplemental incident reports, and any other investigative reports;
- 3. audio or video regarding the Incident or the scene, including squad car and body cameras from Ofc. Hill and any other responding officers;
- 4. audio recordings or transcripts of communication by law enforcement personnel regarding the Incident, including all police radio dispatch;
- 5. reports of any ballistic or forensic investigation into the Incident;
- 6. any photographs relating to or depicting the incident or the scene, or any part thereof;
- 7. the report of Ms. Steele's autopsy, including any photographs, audio, video, or other supplemental evidence;
- 8. audio or video, as well as transcripts, of any interview of Ofc. Hill or any person, relating to the Incident;
- 9. records of any investigation into the dog who allegedly attached Ofc. Hill, including all supporting evidence;
- 10. records, photographs, or other documentation of the alleged attack on Ofc. Hill by a dog during the Incident, as well as any injuries received by Ofc. Hill;

- 11. the names and contact information for any witnesses to the Incident;
- 12. any written statement provided by witnesses to the Incident;
- 13. any audio or video recording of any interview with witnesses to the Incident;
- 14. any and all notes, memoranda, or other written records generated in the course of the investigation of the Incident;
- 15. any other information regarding the Incident or its investigation within your possession or control.

(*Id*.)

Counsel for the DCI responded to Klein's open records request

on March 18, 2015. (App. 0596, CR 36.) The response stated, in part:

I can have DCI send you the material we are sending in response to media open records request. That would include the County Attorney's Letter regarding charges, DCI press releases and a link to some of the body camera footage. That would be the same things we would provide to you in response to your open records request. Other materials would be protected from disclosure under Iowa's open records laws.

(*Id*.)

On February 27, 2015, Klein also made a chapter 22 public records request to the BPD. (App. 0593-94, CR 33-34.) He made the

same catch-all request for "any and all public records regarding the

incident." (Id.) He also specifically requested the following records:

- 6. Records of any internal investigation regarding the Incident or Ofc. Hill's conduct during the Incident;
- 7. Records of any investigation into the dog who allegedly attacked Ofc. Hill, including all supporting evidence;
- 8. Records, including photographs, documenting any injuries received by Ofc. Hill during the Incident, and/or the treatment of any such injuries;

. . . .

- 10. Dispatch logs, audio recordings, transcripts, or any other records of communication by law enforcement personnel regarding the Incident, including all police radio dispatch;
- 11. Transcripts or audio recordings of any 911 call, emergency call, or other call to law enforcement regarding the Incident.
- 12. All records regarding the vicious animal complaint in October 2014 in which Ofc. Hill deployed a taser against a pit bull . . . including, but not limited to:
 - a. the incident report and any and all supplemental reports
 - b. any records of injuries received by Ofc. Hill of treatment thereof

(*Id.*) (numbered as in the original.)

Counsel for the BPD responded to Klein's open records request on March 19, 2015. (App. 0599-0602, CR 39-42.) The BPD declined to produce most of the requested records:

All other items you requested in your Requests Nos. 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, and 12 are peace officers' investigative reports and therefore are confidential records pursuant to Iowa Code Section 22.7(5), except for the date, time, specific location, and immediate facts and circumstances surrounding the incident. Iowa Code 22.7(5) (2014); see also Neer v. State, 798 N.W.2d 349 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011).

The date, time, specific location, and immediate facts surrounding the Ms. Steele's death on January 6, 2015, are contained in the County Attorney's memorandum which has been provided to the public and is enclosed with this letter.

(App. 0601, CR 41.)

III. Klein's Complaint to the IPIB and Contested Case

Klein submitted his Complaint to the IPIB on May 15, 2015.

(App. 0568- 80, CR 8-20.) He alleged that the BPD and DCI violated

chapter 22 by withholding access to public records related to the

shooting that he had requested. (App. 0568-80, CR 8-20.) Inter alia,

Klein requested that the agency: "(2) Find that the requested

records are not exempt from disclosure under Iowa Code § 22.7(5),

and (3) Order Respondents to fully disclose all records responsive

to Complainants' request." (App. 0579, CR 19) (numbered as in the original.)

On October 27, 2016, the IPIB retained jurisdiction of Klein's

Complaint and rendered a probable cause determination that the

BPD and DCI had violated chapter 22 by failing to disclose public

records to Klein:

[T]he IPIB Board finds that the complaint by Adam Klein in this case is within IPIB's jurisdiction.

Pursuant to Iowa Code section 23.10(3)(a), the IPIB Board finds that there is probable cause to believe there has been a violation of Iowa Code section 22.2 when [BPD and DCI] withheld public records as defined therein in response to Complainant's request, including, but not limited to, police audio records, body camera videos, and 911 calls that were subject to disclosure under Iowa Code chapter 22.

(App. 1279, CR 719.) Additionally, the agency designated a special prosecutor, former Iowa Supreme Court Justice Mark McCormick, to commence a contested case on Klein's Complaint. (*Id.*)

The special prosecutor filed a Petition on November 4, 2016. (App. 1280, CR 720.) Under the heading "Parties, Jurisdiction, and Venue", the Petition identified Klein and The Hawk Eye newspaper as complainants: "The Complainant in 15 FC:0034 is Adam Klein, an attorney in Atlanta, Georgia, who is also a person pursuant to Iowa Code §23.2. The Complainant in 15 FC:0030 is The Hawk Eye, a newspaper headquartered in Burlington, which is a person pursuant to Iowa Code §23.2." (*Id.*) The Petition stated:

Complainants [Klein and The Hawk Eye] make essentially the same allegation against the DCI, and the complaint of Adam Klein against the Burlington Police Department arises from the same circumstances. This petition is filed to initiate a contested case on the complaints.

(*Id*.)

The Statement of Facts and Statement of Charges provided, "Adam Klein requested copies of all public records . . . including, but not limited to, the files of the [BPD and DCI], and which were broad enough to include any police audio, body camera videos, and 911 calls." (App. 1282, CR 722.) The special prosecutor further described the records which law enforcement improperly denied:

Among the public records that were requested but which Respondents have wrongfully refused to produced are the following: the recording and transcripts of 911 calls, bodycam videos taken by the officers, videos taken by dashboard cameras, records showing 'the date, time, specific location, and immediate circumstances surrounding the . . . incident,' and emails regarding the Autumn Steele homicide from and to representatives of the City of Burlington in correspondence with Autumn Steele's family members.

(App. 1283, CR 723.) The special prosecutor sought relief as

follows:

that a contested case hearing be set and upon hearing an appropriate order be entered finding Respondents have violated Iowa Code chapter 22 in the respects alleged and that an appropriate order be entered to ensure Respondents' compliance with Iowa Code chapter 22, including statutory damages and a requirement that Respondents produce the documents that have been withheld for examination and copying without cost to Complainants.

(App. 1284, CR 724.)

IV. Unsealing of some records related to the federal civil rights lawsuit

In 2016, Klein filed a federal lawsuit against the BPD and

Officer Hill on behalf of the family of Autumn Steele. (App. 2140,

CR 1580.) A protective order was entered through stipulation of the

parties to govern discovery in that matter. (App. 2141, CR 1581.)

The Iowa Freedom of Information Council subsequently filed a

motion to unseal documents, which was granted in part.² See Steele

et al. v. City of Burlington et al., 3:16-cv-105, Doc. 79-1, Movants-

 $\mathbf{2}$ The enormous public interest in this case is reflected in the record. (See, inter alia, App. 0561-62, CR 1-2 (letter from The Hawk Eye newspaper to Mr. Smithson, describing public interest in the matter, and mentioning a local rally opposing the reinstatement of Officer Hill); App. 0576, CR 16 (Compl. filed by Adam Klein, describing not only the public interest in the shooting itself, but also "allegations of leniency or cover-up" by officials, as well as the reinstatement of Officer Hill without any discipline); App. 0683, CR 123 (The Hawk Eye brief below, citing a Washington Post article describing community interest in police shootings of civilians around the country and in Autumn Steele's case particularly); App. 0684, CR 124; App. 0699, CR 139 (The Hawk Eye brief below, describing the concern of cover up: "Yet every law enforcement agency involved in this open records dispute has circled the squad cars in a collective effort to make sure that objective video depictions and other records evidencing what transpired on the morning Autumn Steele was shot can be seen only by those within government and to the exclusion of the very citizenry the police agencies involved are charged with serving and protecting."); App. 0742, CR 182 (Klein brief below, describing how the public interest is harmed by allowing police to "cherry-pick from the facts and circumstances, releasing those which serve their interests and suppressing those which do not" in reference to the police releasing an edited twelve-second clip from Officer Hill's body camera."); App. 0743, CR 183 (Klein brief below, describing concerns that the records made available at that point demonstrated that "Officer Hill was ready to fire, weapon drawn, before he asked the Steeles to 'get the dog."); App. 0766, CR 206 (letter from reporter Andy Hoffman describing purpose in seeking records as "related to newsgathering purposes only" and stating "release of the information would contribute substantially to the public's understanding of this incident.").)

Intervenors Randy Evans and the Iowa Freedom of Information Council's Br. in Supp. of their Limited Mot. to Intervene at 1 (S.D. Iowa June 12, 2018); (App. 0152-61, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 02.)

Through that unsealing, a portion, but not all, of the records Klein sought and that are subject to this judicial review proceeding were disclosed. The unsealed evidence that was made publicly available does not include any of the public records which were not filed in the court case. Nor does it include many records, exchanged in discovery, which were responsive to Klein's open records request and subsequent IPIB Complaint.

Below are examples of responsive records that were identified through the unsealed, publicly available records but that have not been publicly released:

• Unsealed Doc. 111-1 includes the cover sheet from Officer Jesse Hill's deposition. (App. 0181, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 06: *Steele* Doc. 111-1, at 5). It itemizes deposition exhibits—which were responsive records that have not been publicly released—including "1/6/15 Iowa DCI George Narrative" and "Photocopied Color Photographs (9 pages)." (*Id.*) The same unsealed document includes the cover sheet from Chief Beaird's deposition, which references additional "Photocopied Color Photographs (10 pages)" and "Webb, Rank, Mellinger Interview Notes". (App. 0190-91, *Id.* at 87-88.) Neither of those records has been released. Unsealed Doc. 111-1 also includes a table of "Evidence and Exhibit List as of February 20, 2015." (App. 0192-93, *Id.* at 89-90.) The document further references multiple records which were responsive to Klein's open records request but were not released, including:

- DVD containing the January 9, 2015 interview of Officer JESSE HILL at the DCI Catfish Bend Casino
- Original Affidavits prepared by S/A Matt George; Not-to-scale diagrams prepared by Officer JESSE HILL
- Criminal Investigation Warning signed by Officer JESSE HILL; Diagrams prepared by Gabriel Steele and S/A Ryan Kedley; DCI Receipts dated January 6, 2015
- Consent to Provide Chemical Test of Urine signed by Officer JESSE HILL

- DVD containing photos of shooting scene of 100 block of South Garfield in Burlington, Iowa, and AUTUMN STEELE's clothing
- DVD containing photos of packaged evidence stored at the BPD on January 6, 2015; DVD containing photos of Officer HILL in uniform on January 2, 2015
- Officer Hill's dog bite injury on January 6, 2015
- Officer HILL's firearm and equipment; Officer HILL's duty pants; DVD containing photos of AUTUMN and GABRIEL STEELE's dog taken January 6, 2015
- DVD containing photos taken by Det. Schwandt of AUTUMN STEELE on January 6, 2015 at Lunning Chapel; DVD containing AUTUMN STEELE's autopsy photographs
- CD containing the audio recording of Officer JESSE HILL's January 9, 2015 DCI Interview
- CD containing the audio recording of EBONY TURNER and CHRIS BURK's interview;

• • • •

- DVD containing (copy) of in-dash camera from BPD Lieutenant Greg Allen's squad car on January 6, 2015 (maintained at Stockton DCI Office)
- GRMC Medical Records documenting Officer HILL's dog bite injuries (maintained at the Stockton DCI Office)

(App. 0192-93, *Id.* at 89-90.)

Unsealed Doc. 112-0 is a narrative describing "follow up questions for Officer Jesse Hill" asked by DCI "after the conclusion of Officer Jesse Hill's interview." (App. 0166, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 03: Steele, Doc. 112-0, at 23.) An excerpt from the transcript of the DCI interview of Officer Jesse Hill is included in the unsealed documents which has been marked by DCI as beginning on page 38 and line 1526, in unsealed Doc. 105-3, at 4-5 (App. 0169-70, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 04 at 4-5). Unsealed Doc. 109-0 includes another short excerpt from the same interview. The DCI-marked pages jump from the first page to page 27, and from line 21 to line 1066. (App. 0176-77, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 05: Steele Doc. 109-0, at 31-32.) Thus, at least 26 pages and 1045 lines of the transcript before the excerpt, as well as some number after that, aren't included in the unsealed, publicly available record. The remainder of that interview has not been released, since it was never filed. (*Id.*)

• Also, in Doc. 112-0 is a deposition exhibit which is a photograph of Officer Jesse Hill's leg after he was allegedly bitten

26

by the Steele family dog. (App. 0165, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. 03: *Steele* Doc. 112-0, at 15). A pen mark made by a witness obscures the area of the leg where the alleged bite mark was. (*Id.*) However, the unmarked, original photograph—responsive to Klein's open records request and subject to his IPIB Complaint was never released.

• Unsealed Doc. 105-3 is a transcript from the deposition of Burlington Police Chief Douglas Beaird, which also discusses documents "regarding Defendant Hill and his interactions with dogs or other animals and complaints regarding Officer Hill" . . . including "some documents that have been provided about an interaction that Officer Hill had with another animal where he ultimately used his Taser to subdue that animal." (App. 0171, Resistance to Mot. to Dismiss: Ex. 04: *Steele* Doc. 105-3, at 19.) Those documents are also responsive to Klein's open records request and covered by his IPIB Complaint, but they have not been publicly released.

• The released body camera footage reveals that the officers drove their vehicles to the Steele home; yet no dashcam

27

video, also referenced above, and responsive to Klein's request and IPIB Complaint, has been publicly released.

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