IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 20-0657
POLK COUNTY NO. CVCV057831

ADAM KLEIN,
Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

IOWA PUBLIC INFORMATION BOARD,
Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY, IOWA
THE HONORABLE SAMANTHA J. GRONEWALD

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-APPELLEE
IOWA PUBLIC INFORMATION BOARD

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

EMILY WILLITS
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Justice
Hoover State Office Building
1305 E. Walnut St., 2nd Fl.
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
Ph: (515) 281-6403
E-mail: emily.willits@ag.iowa.gov
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DISMISSED THE PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW ON THE BASIS THAT MR. KLEIN FAILED TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES.

A. Preservation of Error.

This issue has been preserved for appeal.

B. Mr. Klein Failed to Exhaust Administrative Remedies Because he was not a Party to the Contested Case Proceeding and did not Seek to Intervene.

A party must exhaust all available administrative remedies before seeking judicial review under Iowa Code section 17A.19. Iowa Code § 17A.19(1); *Riley v. Boxa*, 542 N.W.2d 519, 521 (Iowa 1996); *Salsbury Labs. v. Iowa Dept. of Env'tl. Qual.*, 276 N.W.2d 830, 837 (Iowa 1979). The district court lacks authority to review the case if administrative remedies are not exhausted. *Keokuk Cty. v. H.B.*, 593 N.W.2d 118, 122 (Iowa 1999); *Shors v. Johnson*, 581 N.W.2d 648, 650 (Iowa 1998).

Two conditions must be satisfied before the exhaustion doctrine may be applied: (1) an adequate administrative remedy must exist for the claimed wrong, and (2) the governing statutes must expressly or impliedly require the remedy to be exhausted before allowing judicial review. *Riley*, 542 N.W.2d

at 521. A person who is not a party to the challenged agency proceeding has not exhausted administrative remedies and therefore cannot seek judicial review. *Public Employment Relations Bd. v. Stohr*, 279 N.W.2d 286, 291 (Iowa 1979) ; *see also Filipelli v. Iowa Racing and Gaming Comm’n*, 899 N.W.2d 741 (Table), 2017 WL 1088101, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017) (unpublished opinion) (observing that the petitioner “was never a party to the underlying proceedings and thus clearly did not ‘exhaust[] all adequate administrative remedies.’” (quoting Iowa Code § 17A.19(1))).

Here, the two conditions for requiring exhaustion are easily satisfied. First, there is an express statutory provision requiring exhaustion before seeking judicial review under Iowa Code section 17A.19(1)). A person alleging a violation of Iowa Code chapter 22 may file *either* an original action in district court *or* a complaint with the Board. Iowa Code § 23.5(1) - (2).¹ If an individual elects to file an original action in district court, that individual does not need to exhaust any administrative remedies before the

¹ The statute also allows an individual to seek judicial review under Iowa Code section 17A.19 of an agency action taken in contravention of Iowa’s sunshine laws. Iowa Code § 23.5. For instance, if an agency takes an action without holding a required public meeting, an aggrieved individual could potentially seek judicial review of that agency action pursuant to Iowa Code §§ 23.5 and 17A.19.

Board. However, if an individual elects to file a complaint with the Board, and the Board commences a contested case following investigation of the complaint, the contested case must be conducted pursuant to the provisions in chapter 17A. Iowa Code §§ 23.6(4); 23.10(3)(a). The exhaustion requirements of chapter 17A apply, including the explicit statutory requirement to exhaust administrative remedies before seeking judicial review. Iowa Code § 17A.19(1).

Second, an adequate administrative remedy exists because the Board's administrative rules allow intervention in a contested case proceeding in order to achieve party status. Iowa Admin. Code. r. 497—4.18(4). The Department of Inspections and Appeals, which employs the ALJs who preside over contested cases for the Board, similarly has a rule allowing for intervention in contested cases conducted by its ALJs. Iowa Admin. Code r. 481—10.19. A contested case is a formal adjudicatory proceeding “in which the legal rights, duties or privileges of a party are required by Constitution or statute to be determined by an agency after an opportunity for an evidentiary hearing.” Iowa Code § 17A.2(5); *see also Strickland v. Iowa Bd. of Medicine*, 764 N.W.2d 559, 561 (Iowa 2009). A contested case before the Board is prosecutorial in nature, with the Board's designated prosecutor serving in a civil enforcement role following a probable cause

determination. Iowa Code §§ 23.6(4); 23.10(3)). The enforcement action is brought on behalf of the Board, which is an agency of the state. It is not a private action on behalf of the original complainant, and the original complainant is not considered a party to the contested case. *See* Board's Final Decision at 1 (reciting parties) (App. 2130, CR 1570). The party whose legal duties are adjudicated in the enforcement proceeding is the respondent—the public body that is subject to the open records law or, in some cases, an individual government employee. *See* Iowa Code § 23.2(8); 23.10(3)(a). Among other remedies, the Board has the ability to issue civil penalties upon a finding that the law has been violated. Iowa Code § 23.6(4), (8)). Thus, the Board and the respondents are parties to the contested case. Anyone else wishing to become a party must seek to intervene pursuant to Iowa Admin. Code. 497—4.18.

Aside from the Board and the respondent, a person seeking party status in a contested case brought by a state board must take affirmative steps to become a party. *Fisher v. Iowa Bd. Of Optometry*, 476 N.W.2d 48, 51 (Iowa 1991). The Iowa Supreme Court discussed the question of who is a party in a contested case at length in *Fisher*. The Court explained that the question of who the parties are should be determined from the record, rather than by how the proceeding is captioned. *Id.* (citing *Application of Bank of*

Rhame, 231 N.W.2d 801, 808 (N.D. 1975)). The Court also explained that the would-be party (in *Fisher*, the state) must take affirmative action in order to obtain “party” status in the contested case. In *Fisher*, the state satisfied that requirement by filing an application for rehearing of the agency’s decision in the contested case and obtaining conflicts counsel to represent the medical board. *See id.*

Mr. Klein asserts that he *was* a party to the contested case because he filed a complaint with the Board. Klein Br. at 38-39. But filing a complaint with the Board does not automatically confer party status in the contested case. Iowa Code chapter 23 defines “complainant” as “a person who files a complaint with the board.” Iowa Code § 23.2(3). In contrast, the Iowa Administrative Procedures Act defines “party” as “each person or agency named or admitted as a party or properly seeking and entitled as of right to be admitted as a party.” Iowa Code § 17A.2(8); *Fisher*, 476 N.W.2d at 50. In contested cases, parties may do all of the things typically done by parties to litigation, such as conducting discovery; presenting opening and closing statements to the tribunal; presenting evidence through witnesses and exhibits, and cross-examining witnesses called by the opposing party. *See Fisher*, 476 N.W.2d at 50; *see also* Iowa Code §§ 17A.12(4); 17A.14); Iowa Admin. Code r. 497—4.19 . As a complainant who submitted a complaint to

the Board, but did not intervene in the contested case, Mr. Klein did not have the right to do these things. He was not named or admitted as a party and did not seek to become admitted as a party. *See* Iowa Code § 17A.2(8); *see also* Board Final Decision, at 1 (reciting parties and appearances) (App. 2130, CR 1570). Mr. Klein had ample time and opportunity to intervene, considering that the contested case was pending for well over a year before the evidentiary hearing in this matter occurred. However, Mr. Klein never filed a motion to intervene and therefore was not a party to the contested case. *Stohr*, 279 N.W.2d at 291.

Mr. Klein alleges that he was not required to become a party because Iowa Code section 17A.19 allows a “person or party” to seek judicial review. Klein Br. at 36-37. Reading the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act as a whole, it is clear that a person wishing to participate in a contested case must be a party, and only a party can seek judicial review of a contested case decision.

A contested case is defined as a proceeding “in which the legal rights, duties or privileges of a *party* are required by Constitution or statute to be determined by an agency after an opportunity for an evidentiary hearing.” Iowa Code § 17A.2(5) (emphasis added); *Strickland*, 764 N.W.2d at 561. Throughout chapter 17A, the contested case provisions refer to a “party,” not

a “person.” *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code §§ 17A.10(2) (the “parties” to a contested case may stipulate to waive provisions); Iowa Code § 17A.11 (setting out processes by which a “party” may request disqualification); 17A.12 (all “parties” shall be afforded an opportunity for hearing after reasonable notice); 17A.16(2) (a “party” in a contested case may file an application for rehearing). Moreover, to participate in a judicial review proceeding in the district court, any “party of record” in the contested case proceeding must file an appearance in the judicial review proceeding. Iowa Code § 17A.19(2). In contrast, provisions of chapter 17A that do not involve contested case proceedings refer to “persons.” *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 17A.7(1) (an interested “person” may petition for rulemaking); 17A.8(6) (an interested “person” may be heard and present evidence at meetings of the Administrative Rules Review Committee); 17A.9A (any “person” may petition an agency for a waiver or variance from the requirements of a rule).

Read in that context, it is clear that the judicial review provision in Iowa Code section 17A.19(1), which allows “persons or parties” to seek judicial review, is worded that way because an individual seeking judicial review may be a “person” or a “party,” depending on the nature of the challenged agency action. Judicial review under Iowa Code section 17A.19 is available to individuals seeking to challenge a wide range of agency

actions, including rulemaking, contested case decisions, or “other agency actions.” *Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dept. of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 833-34 (Iowa 2002). In judicial review actions other than appeals of declaratory orders or contested case decisions, the person seeking judicial review will *never* have been a party, because there is no such thing as party status in other types of agency proceedings. Therefore, a “person” may seek judicial review of a rulemaking action, waiver request, or “other agency action.” In contrast, in order to seek judicial review of a declaratory order or contested case proceeding, a person must have exhausted administrative remedies by participating as a “party.” *Stohr*, 279 N.W.2d at 291.

In *Stohr*, the Iowa Supreme Court considered whether a party that did not participate in a declaratory order proceeding at the agency level could file a petition for judicial review. The Court answered in the negative:

This issue is controlled by the section 17A.19(1) language which provides: ‘A person or party who has exhausted all adequate administrative remedies and who is aggrieved or adversely affected by any agency action is entitled to judicial review’ It is plain the individuals in question have not ‘exhausted all administrative remedies.’ Other courts have limited the right of judicial review to parties participating in the agency proceedings.

Stohr, 279 N.W.2d at 291 (citing *Lake Cty. Contractors Ass’n v. Pollution Control Bd.*, 54 Ill.2d 16, 18-20, 294 N.E.2d 259, 261 (Ill. 1973); *Wylie Bros. Contracting Co. v. Albuquerque-Bernalillo Cty. Air Quality Control*

Bd., 80 N.M. 633, 640, 459 P.2d 159, 166 (N.M. 1969)); *see also Shors*, 581 N.W.2d at 653 (holding that neighbor affected by issuance of building permit failed to exhaust her administrative remedies because she did not file appeal with the board of adjustment before seeking judicial review); *Meyer v. Iowa Util. Bd.*, 2000 WL 1421854 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000) (unpublished opinion); *Filipelli*, 2017 WL 1088101 at *3. Although the petitioners in *Stohr* sought judicial review from a declaratory order proceeding, if anything, the principle is even more important in judicial reviews of contested case proceedings, which are adjudicatory in nature and require parties to present evidence to the tribunal.

The requirement for a party to seek intervention is consistent with the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure and longstanding principles of issue preservation. It is well-settled that a party who does not participate in an adjudication cannot subsequently appear and raise new issues:

In the absence of any showing or excuse for the failure to intervene, and thereby secure the right to defend the action by the railroad company against the county, we do not see how this plaintiff can now assert his right, even if he has any. . . . A party may not sit quietly by and allow an adjudication to be made between the proper parties, and after finding it adverse to his interest, demand that the court set aside its solemn judgment, and re-try the cause in order that he may assert the same claim in his own way.

Tredway v. Sioux City & P.R. Co., 39 Iowa 663, 665 (Iowa 1874); *cf. Alons v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Woodbury Cty.*, 698 N.W.2d 858, 863-64 (Iowa 2005) (explaining that non-parties lack standing to seek certiorari review of a district court's order); Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.407 (allowing for intervention in civil suits). Allowing non-parties to appeal and raise new issues not considered at the agency level would undercut longstanding principles of judicial review and deprive the appellate courts of a fully developed record on which to make their decisions.

In this case, Mr. Klein has filed a petition for judicial review seeking to access a set of records that is much broader than the set of records considered by the ALJ and the Board during the contested case hearing. Am. Pet. for Judicial Rev. ¶¶ 5, 7 & 46 (App. 422-34); Petitioner's Br. at pp. 23-27. The contested case petition filed by the Board's special prosecutor on November 4, 2016 described the public records as follows:

Among the public records that were requested but which Respondents have wrongfully refused to produce are the following: the recording and transcripts of 911 calls, bodycam videos taken by the officers, videos taken by dashboard cameras, records showing 'the date, time, specific location, and immediate circumstances surrounding the . . . incident,' and emails regarding the Autumn Steele homicide from and to representatives of the City of Burlington in correspondence with Autumn Steele's family members.

Special Prosecutor's Petition ¶ 16. (App. 1283, CR 723)

In a pre-hearing brief filed on July 16, 2018, the special prosecutor requested that the ALJ broaden the list of records allegedly withheld in violation of chapter 22 to include additional items in the DCI file, specifically: “witness interviews, an evidentiary inventory, chain of custody documents, body camera video footage (except 12 seconds of video footage), patrol car video footage, Burlington Police Department reports, autopsy information and laboratory reports.” Prosecutor’s Br. In Support of Order Requiring Disclosure of DCI File at 1. (App. 1913, CR 1353) The ALJ denied this request, observing:

The probable cause finding by the board alleged that Burlington and DCI violated chapter 22 by withholding public records such as the 911 call, the dashcam videos and the bodycam videos. Burlington and DCI have responded that the documents within a peace officer[']s investigative report are not public records because they are confidential under the exemption in section 22.7(5). This contested case has been limited to that issue throughout the proceedings and it would be unfair to expand the issues at the time of the hearing.

Proposed Decision at 13 (App. 2049, CR 1489) The special prosecutor did not seek reconsideration or appeal that decision, and the Board adopted the ruling in full in its Final Decision. Final Decision at 13. (App. 2142, CR 1582) Now, in this petition for judicial review, Mr. Klein seeks a much broader set of documents than were considered by the ALJ or the Board. Klein Amended Pet. ¶ 46.

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